FILED SIOJ. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OCT 29 1990

CLERK, SUBMINISTRA

RICHARD C. SMITH,)		
Petitioner,)		
vs.)	CASE NO.	76,659
STATE OF FLORIDA,)		
Respondent.)		
	,		

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

BARBARA L. CONDON
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0468037
112 Orange Ave., Ste. A
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
(904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Richard Charles Smith, hereafter Petitioner, was charged in a seven count information filed June 6, 1988 with: count I - grand theft, in violation of Section 812.014, Fla. Stat. (1987); count II - fleeing or attempting to elude, in violation of Section 316.1935(1), Fla. Stat. (1987); count III - reckless driving, in violation of Section 316.192(1), Fla. Stat. (1987); count IV - resisting an officer without violence, in violation of Section 843.02, Fla. Stat. (1987); count V - uttering a false or forged instrument, in violation of Section 831.02, Fla. Stat. (1987); count VI - forgery, in violation of Section 831.01, Fla. Stat. (1987) and count VII - fraudulent use of a credit card, in violation of Section 817.61, Fla. Stat. (1987). (R 10-11) (lower case number 88-2746)

Pursuant to a negotiated plea agreement, Petitioner pled nolo contendere to grand theft, uttering a forged

instrument, and the fraudulent use of a credit card. In exchange the state nolle prosequi the remaining four counts. (R 19)

On October 18, 1988 Petitioner appeared for sentencing before the Honorable Judge John W. Watson, III, Circuit Court Judge, Seventh Judicial Circuit in and for Volusia County, Florida. (R 26) A category six (theft, forgery, fraud) sentencing guidelines scoresheet was prepared reflecting a total point score of 17 points for a recommended sentencing sanction of any non-state prison sanction. (R 26) The guideline scoresheet revealed that no points were assigned for Petitioner's prior The Court sentenced the Petitioner in the record. (R 26) following manner: for the grand theft conviction (count I), the court sentenced Petitioner to a period of five years probation; for the uttering of a false or forged instrument (count V), the court ordered a consecutive five year period of probation; and on the remaining conviction, fraudulent use of a credit card (count VII), the court ordered a concurrent one year period of probation. As a condition of probation, the court ordered that appellant serve 210 days in the Volusia County Jail. (R 13-14)Appellant received 180 days credit for time served.

On November 30, 1988, an affidavit alleging violation of probation was filed by Petitioner's correctional probation officer alleging violation of four conditions of probation. One of which included the commission of substantive offenses. (R 21-23)

On December 13, 1988 a five count information was filed

alleging that Petitioner committed: count I - grand theft; count II - petit theft, in violation of Section 812.014, Fla. Stat. (1987); count III - reckless driving; count IV - fleeing or attempting to elude a law enforcement officer; and count V - resisting a law enforcement officer without violence. (R 58-59)

Pursuant to a negotiated plea agreement, Petitioner plead nolo contendere to the charges of grand theft, petit theft, and resisting arrest without violence. (R 62) In exchange the state nolle prosequi the remaining charges. (R 58-59,75)

On February 7, 1989, Petitioner appeared for sentencing on the violation of probation case (88-2746) as well as the case involving the new substantive offenses (88-9091). (R 1-8, 49-56) A category six sentencing guidelines scoresheet was prepared reflecting a total point score of 43 points for a recommended sentencing range of 12 - 30 months incarceration or community control. (R 62) Invoking the discretionary one cell bump up for the violation of probation, would place the recommended sentencing range at $2\frac{1}{2}$ to $3\frac{1}{2}$ years incarceration. The court departed from the recommended guidelines sentence and imposed a cumulative sentence of ten years incarceration followed by five years probation. Specifically, on the violation of probation case, (88-2746) the court sentenced on count I - a term of five years incarceration with 289 days credit for time served; count V - a consecutive period of five years probation to the sentence imposed. For the new substantive offenses, (88-9091) the court sentenced on count I - a term of five years incarceration to run consecutively to the sentence imposed in the violation of

probation case; count II - to a term of 60 days in the county jail to run concurrently with count I in the violation of probation case and finally as to count V - a term of one year incarceration in the county jail, again to run concurrently with count I in the violation of probation case. (R 63-70, 51-54, 71-72) The court recognized that it had imposed a departure sentence and gave reasons at the sentencing hearing which were memorialized in a written order of departure. (R 55-56, 71-77)

On February 14, 1989 both cases were appealed to the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

On August 30, 1990, the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed the departure sentence because at least one reason given for departing beyond the one cell bump up was valid and justified based on the record presented. Nevertheless, the court certified the question:

MAY A TRIAL JUDGE IMPOSED A DEPARTURE SEN-TENCE BASED SOLELY ON A PERSISTENT PATTERN OF CRIMINAL ACTIVITY, CLOSELY RELATED IN TIME, ALTHOUGH THE PATTERN IS NOT ESCALATING TOWARDS MORE VIOLENT OR SERIOUS CRIMES?

On September 26, 1990 Petitioner filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary jurisdiction. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On one day, April 20, 1988, it was alleged that Petitioner stole Douglas Downs automobile, presented a forged or an altered order for money, with the intent to injure Douglas Downs or Howard Leonard, and then presented Douglas Downs' Shell credit card in order to illegally obtain goods. (R 10-11) For these offenses Appellant was confined in the County Jail of Volusia for a period of 210 days to be followed by five years probation. Petitioner was released from county jail and placed on probation. Within thirty days thereafter he committed the new substantive offenses and an affidavit alleging violation of probation followed. (R 23-25, 58-59)

Petitioner's recommended sentencing sanction was 12 - 30 months incarceration or community control. Invoking the discretionary one cell bump up for the finding of the violation of probation recommended a sentence of $2\frac{1}{2}$ to $3\frac{1}{2}$ years incarceration.

The sentencing court imposed a departure sentence. In the violation of probation case, the court imposed a term of five years incarceration. In the new substantive offenses, the court ordered a consecutive term of five years incarceration. The cumulative sentence was ten years incarceration followed by five years probation. The sentencing court issued a written order of departure which assigned four reasons in order to justify the departure. (R 37-38)

The trial judge gave the following reasons for the departure sentence:

- (1) the timing of the commission of the offenses in (88-9091) grand theft, petit theft and resisting an officer without violence. Specifically, said offenses were committed on November 17, 1988 within approximately 30 days from the date the defendant had been released on probation in (88-2746) for the offense of grand theft, ect. as above described.
- (2) the nature of the defendant's prior record. Specifically, the defendant had previously committed the offense of grand theft in (88-2746) which as was previously stated, the defendant was placed on probarion for. In said grand theft, was motor vehicle grand theft. One of the offenses for which the defendant is currently before the court in (88-9091) is grand theft. Specifically, grand theft of a motor vehicle.
- (3) The violations of probations are serious and substantial and egregraious [sic] in nature and not merely technical in nature.
- (4) the defendant's criminal record as evidenced by the offenses in (88-2746 and 88-9091) show a continuing and persistent and escalating pattern of criminal activity. (R71-77)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Departures from the recommended guidelines sentence based upon "temporal proximity" of the new substantive offense with the defendant's prior convictions or release from incarceration and serving of probation, concern factors already included within the sentencing guidelines scoresheet. Specifically, the primary offense for which the defendant is being sentenced is scored, the prior record is assessed points, the legal status of the probationer is factored. Additionally, in the case of Category 6 (Theft) offenses, the pattern or persistence of the criminal conduct is factored on the scoresheet by inclusion of the multiplier for like offenses.

Even if temporal proximity of the offenses is a proper reason for departure in a particular case, the instant case is not one of those cases.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

MAY A TRIAL JUDGE IMPOSE A DEPARTURE SENTENCE BASED SOLELY ON A PERSISTENT PATTERN OF CRIMINAL ACTIVITY, CLOSELY RELATED IN TIME, ALTHOUGH THE PATTERN IS NOT ESCALATING TOWARDS MORE VIOLENT OR SERIOUS CRIMES?

It is the Petitioner's position that the answer to the certified question must be No. The Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmance of the departure sentence ordered in this case must be reversed, because it relies upon factors already taken into consideration and weighted in the sentencing guidelines scoresheet, and considers matters that the Legislature failed to include on the sentencing guidelines scoresheet. Specifically, the timing or "temporal proximity" of the offenses and the pattern of offenses.

Petitioner appeared for sentencing on both the original offenses (grand theft auto, forgery, and fraudulent use of a credit cart) and for sentencing on the new substantive offenses (grand theft auto, resisting arrest without violence, and petit theft). Given the nature of the newly committed offenses, a Category 6 sentencing guidelines scoresheet was selected. The court assessed points for the new substantive offenses, under Section I - primary offense at conviction, and Section II - additional offenses at conviction. Secondly, Petitioner was assessed points under Section III.a. - prior record. Thirdly, the multiplier for apparent "persistent" Category 6 offenses was utilized by the court in Section III.b. Forthly, under Section

IV - legal status at time of offense, Petitioner was assessed additional points for legal constraint. Factors already included within the sentencing quidelines scoresheet can not be the basis for departure. Hendrix v. State, 475 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985). Finally, by virtue of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.701(d)14, the sentencing court was authorized to increase the sentencing by one cell (one guideline range) as to the sentences imposed after revocation of probation or community control. Upon finding of a violation of probation, the sentencing court is limited to a one cell increase. Ree v. State, 15 FLW 395 (Fla. July 19, 1990); Lambert v. State, 545 So.2d 838 (Fla. 1989); State v. Mischler, 488 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1986). Thus, as it can be seen, the reasons given for departing are grounded in matters already weighed in the scoresheet in arriving at the recommended guidelines sentence or specifically disapproved by this Court, and therefore, can not reasonably justify departure from the recommended sentence.

In approving the departure reasons, the District Court of Appeal recognized that Appellant's commission of similar type offenses committed within thirty days after his release from County Jail to probation, did not evince an "escalating" pattern as described in Section 921.001(a), Florida Statutes (1987). That provision provides that, "[t]he escalating pattern of criminal conduct may be evidenced by a progression from non-violent to violent crimes or a progression of increasingly violent crimes." It is clear that Petitioner's two encounters

with the law regarding non-violent activities does not comport with an escalating pattern of criminality for the departure sentence. See Keys v. State, 500 So.2d 134 (Fla. 1986); Williams v. State, 504 So.2d 392 (Fla. 1987).

In <u>Williams v. State</u>, 504 So.2d 392 (Fla. 1987), this Court flirted with the concept of timing as being a valid reason for departure. It affirmed that a departure sentence could be based on a defendant's criminal conduct and the time sequence of the commission of each offense in relation to prior offenses and the release from incarceration or supervision. But in <u>Williams</u>, <u>supra</u>, the trial court detailed the defendant's criminal history. The defendant's extensive and frequent contact with the criminal system warranted the departure. The abstract reason coupled with the factual basis, persuaded the reviewing court that such evidence presented more than a defendant's prior record and combined the timing and pattern factors as one reason for departure. In <u>Williams</u>, supra:

the defendant, as a juvenile, was committed to the Department of HRS for the offense of arson, dated January 11, 1977. He was committed also in Case No. 76-466 for arson and burglary of an occupied dwelling, and again committed for shop lifting dated August 18, 1978. At age eighteen (18) years, the defendant was sentenced to the Department of Corrections for three (3) years for burglary of a structure dated February 19, 1979 and paroled September 16, 1980. He was charged with violating his parol on March 3, 1981, having only been out of prison for some six On July 10, 1981 the defendant was again sentence to the Department of Corrections on the offense of attempted burglary for five (5) years. On December 10, 1983 he was discharged as to that sentence, and after only approximately ten (10) months committed the instant offense on October 6, 1984 (aggravated battery and burglary of a dwelling with an assault).

Id. at 392-93 (explanation supplied).

Even if this Court were to find that an escalating pattern was not required to establish a valid basis to depart, but merely a persistent pattern, however vague that term is, the paucity of convictions, and Petitioner's minimal contact with the law, does not rise to the level present in Williams. Williams exiting and entering institutions resembled that of a revolving In contrast, Petitioner's first convictions resulted in door. him being placed on probation with a condition that he serve County Jail time. Admittedly, he violated that probation and as such, the guidelines permitted incarceration up to 3 1/2 years. Petitioner's situation does not establish a pattern of - escalating or persistent-criminal activity. The Courts in Frederick v. State, 556 So.2d 471 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) and McKinney v. State, 559 So.2d 621 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), hold that two offenses does not a pattern make. But see Lipscomb v. State, 15 FLW 2227 (Fla. September 6, 1990) (two points can establish a line just as two felonies can establish a habit, two similar violations of theft laws separated by short prison terms show a pattern of criminal behavior).

Finally, it is obvious that the District Court misinterpreted this Court's holding that in the context of a revocation of probation, that the sentencing court is limited to a one cell increase from the recommended sentence. Ree v. State, 15 FLW 395 (Fla. July 19, 1990). Because the District Court affirmed a five year incarceration term ordered in the violation of probation case wherein the maximum sentence (utilizing the one cell bump-up) was 3 1/2 years incarceration.

Neither the "timing" or the "temporal proximity", nor the "persistent pattern of criminal conduct" adopted by the majority opinion in this case to uphold the departure sentence should be approved as valid reasons for imposing a sentence departing from the recommended guidelines sentence. If those concepts or factors are necessary in formulating a fair and reasonably sentence under the uniform guidelines system of sentencing, then the guidelines scoresheet should be amended to reflect so. Authorizing departures on the basis of "timing" or "temporal proximity" or persistence of a pattern in the context of temporal proximity, is so imprecise and so indefinite that it will not take much to justify a desired result. But by answering the certified question in the negative, this Court will reduce the disparities and promote uniformity which was the motivating factor for adopting the guidelines system of sentencing.

Accordingly, the Petitioner respectfully requests that the certified question be answered in the negative, rejecting the departure reasons, and remanding for resentencing within the appropriate guidelines. <u>Shull v. Duggar</u>, 515 So.2d 748 (Fla. 1987).

CONCLUSION

Based on the forgoing reasons and authority, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court certfify the question in the negative, rejecting the departure reasons, and remanded for resentencing within the appropriate guidelines.