12-24

FILED

SID J. WHITE

DEC 3 1990

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICHARD C. SMITH,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 76,659

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

MERITS BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

DAVID S. MORGAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 651265
210 N. Palmetto Avenue
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
(904) 238-4990

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A trial court may properly impose a departure sentence based upon the timing of the offenses in relation to prior offenses and release from incarceration in the absence of an escalating pattern of criminality.

ARGUMENT

THE CERTIFIED QUESTION SHOULD BE
ANSWERED AFFIRMATIVELY.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal certified the following question as one of major importance:

May a trial judge impose a departure sentence based solely on a persistent pattern of criminal activity, closely related in time, although the pattern is not escalating towards more violent or serious crimes?

Smith v. State, 566 So.2d 57, 59 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990).

The answer to the certified question already has been provided in previous opinions of this court. In order to justify a departure sentence, the record must reveal "additional facts concerning the timing of these offenses which were not already factored into the guidelines scoresheet." *State v. Rousseau*, 509 So.2d 281, 282 (Fla. 1987). In *Williams v. State*, 504 So.2d 392 (Fla. 1987), this court held:

Neither the continuing and persistent pattern of criminal activity *nor* the timing of each offense in relation to prior offenses and release from incarceration or supervision are aspects of a defendant's prior criminal history which are factored in to arrive at a presumptive guidelines sentence. Therefore, there is no prohibition against being a departure sentence on such factors.

Id., 393; also *Tillman v. State*, 525 So.2d 862, 864 (Fla. 1988) (emphasis added).

The above holding provides two distinct grounds for departure. First is a persistent pattern of criminal activity. Temporal proximity between the later crimes and prior offenses or between

the later crimes and release from incarceration or supervision also provides a proper basis for departure. As will be shown below, both grounds existed in this case.

This court later explained how a court is to determine whether or not a defendant has displayed an "involvement in a continuing and persistent pattern of criminal activity". Such a pattern is:

[E]videnced by the timing of each offense in relation to prior offenses and the release from incarceration or other supervision.

State v. Jones, 530 So.2d 53, 56 (Fla. 1988); see also *State v. Simpson*, 554 So.2d 506, 509 (Fla., 1989).

The pattern was established in this case by the short time span between the commission of the initial offenses and the later crimes, as well as the extremely short time that had elapsed between release from custody and the commission of the new offenses. The defendant committed a grand theft of an automobile, uttered a forgery, and fraudulently used a credit card on April 20, 1988 (R 10-11; 27).¹ He was placed on probation for these offenses on October 18, 1988 (R 13-18). He committed the later offenses only 30 days later on November 17, 1988 (R 58-59; 63). Hence, there was only a period of only seven months between the prior and later crimes; and less than one

1

The parties are referred to as the defendant and the state. References to the record are indicated "(R and page)"; those to the merits brief of the petitioner denoted "(B and page)".

month between placement on probation and the commission of the new crimes.

The defense, like the dissenting judge below, mistakenly believes that the temporal proximity factor has already been weighed (B 9). While the defense is correct that points were scored for prior record and for prior convictions for the same type of offense, neither these nor any of the other items scored takes into consideration the short time span between the crimes committed by the defendant and his prior offenses and his placement on supervision. The issue has already been resolved contrarily to the defense position. "[T]he timing of offenses in relation to prior offenses and release from incarceration ... is an aspect of prior criminal history not already factored in to arrive at a presumptive guidelines sentence." *Tillman, supra*.